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REQUEST FOR PROPOSALS FOR 

San Francisco Health Service System 

 

Drupal Development, Support and Maintenance for the San Francisco Health 

Service System 

 

RFPQ#HSS2022.E2 

 

CONTACT: Patrick Chang (patrick.chang@sfgov.org); cc: 

michael.visconti@sfgov.org 

This Addendum is being issued to modify the requirements in the above-referenced 

Request for Proposals (RFP) and to respond to questions and requests for clarification 

received by or before 12:00 PM Pacific Daylight Time on Friday, June 10, 2022 (the 

“Deadline for RFP Questions”). Please review the terms of the RFP and this Addendum 

carefully. If there are any inconsistencies between the RFP and the terms of this 

Addendum, then the terms of this Addendum shall prevail. Section references below 

are to the RFP and are provided for convenience of reference only. 

 



 

ADDENDUM NO. 2 

RFP for Drupal Development, Support and Maintenance for the San Francisco 

Health Service System 

 

Page 2 of 8  |  HSS RFPQ#HSS2022.E2 Drupal Development, Support & Maintenance RFP – Addendum 2   |   June 17, 2022 

Questions & Answers 

 

1. There are several initiatives that you are interested in during this contract 

period. What are the top/critical priorities of the SFHSS team in regards to 

the task areas/deliverables requested? 

 

HSS Response: 

Meeting the City’s Digital Accessibility and Inclusion Standard (RFP Section 8, 

“Scope of Work”, subsection A.x.; see also https://sf.gov/reports/november-

2021/digital-accessibility-and-inclusion-standard) is of primary importance.  By 

November 18, 2023, HSS must provide our Members, City staff, prospective 

employees of the City and anyone doing business with the City with equitable 

access to all of our digital services and web content. 

 

Ongoing Support and Maintenance (B.) as well as necessary Website upgrades 

(see A.iii. “Drupal 10 Upgrade”) are also critical to ongoing digital accessibility of 

benefits information and services administered or provided by HSS and our 

benefit partners. 

 

Please also reference RFP Section 8 (Scope of Work), Table 8.1, for the 

deliverables and services marked as “Required”, which take precedence over 

those marked “As-Requested"). Prioritized deliverable due dates (see “Key 

Dates”) are calendared in order of importance, beginning with September 2023 

(A.i. “Authenticated User Access to User-specific Statements and Documents via 

Single Sign-On (SSO)”) as our Open Enrollment period is set for October each 

year, as well as for 2022, and the ability to provide Members with a reliable, direct 

and immediate method of communications for key open enrollment documents will 

“reduce complexity” for, and allow HSS to better “engage and support”, our 

Members (see The SFHSS 2020-2022 Strategic Plan, available 

at https://sfhss.org/sfhss-strategic-plan-2020-

2022, https://sfhss.org/resource/sfhss-2020-2022-strategic-plan). 
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2. Help us better understand what you mean by “dynamic” with regard to 

“Dynamic homepage”. Are you looking for a dynamic experience based on 

who the user is or dynamic based on the user segment? 

 

HSS Response: 

At this early stage in the further development of the Website, one of HSS’ primary 

goals is to quickly and accurately connect users with information about HSS, their 

benefits and required actions and best practices, surrounding, for example, new 

life events or for those approaching retirement. At this early stage, this will be 

based on categories of users, rather than by specific users or by leveraging user 

tracking with cookies. 

  

However, based on an RFP respondent’s knowledge of HSS (https://sfhss.org/) 

and the HSS Member Population (https://sfhss.org/resource/2022-sfhss-

demographic-report), HSS welcomes proposals that consider alternative proven 

approaches to user segmentation and efficient and accurate navigation of 

Members to desired content or desired content that may answer a specific 

question, including after-hours, on weekends, or when calling the HSS Member 

Services call center directly is not feasible. 

  

See also RFP Section 8, subsection A.iv. “Dynamic Homepage Summary” and 

our goal to “intuitively and efficiently direct end-users to the Website’s content that 

best match their needs.” 

  

See also RFP Section 8, subsection A.v. "Two-Field Site Search Capability 

Improvement” including the goal to determine user segment by first, Membership 

(A.v.a.) followed by Life-Event (A.v.b.). 

 

 

3. Would you like the homepage to handle the brunt of personalization rather 

than a more robust UX/UI architecture redesign? 

 

HSS Response: 

At this early stage in the further development of the Website, and given the fact 

that a majority of users go directly from the homepage to the drop-down “Contact 

https://sfhss.org/
https://sfhss.org/resource/2022-sfhss-demographic-report
https://sfhss.org/resource/2022-sfhss-demographic-report
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Us” link (https://sfhss.org/contact-us), the homepage is our primary target for 

personalization. 

  

See also our response to Question 2, above, and the “Two-Field Site Search 

Capability”. 

  

In addition, the ability for HSS to communicate directly with our Members in a 

secure (HIPAA/PHI) manner, both to the Member (A.i. “Authenticated User 

Access to User-specific Statements and Documents via Single Sign-On (SSO)”) 

and to receive HIPAA-protected documents from Members (A.ii. “End-user Secure 

Document Submission through Website and Secure Email”) is also important and 

could be described as “personalization”. Currently, SFHSS can send messages to 

Members using our EMMA email marketing service (https://myemma.com/) which 

is not personalized, or through the mail (see RFPQ.HSS2022.C1), available 

at https://sfhss.org/RFPs) which is fast but limited and while relatively accurate 

through multiple rounds of NCOA (National Change of Address) processing with 

our print and mail partner K&H Printers-Lithographers, Inc., no guarantee that a 

letter was opened by a specific Member. 

 

 

4. What is your current approach to content strategy? Has the Health Service 

System worked on content strategy with past web development vendors?  

 

HSS Response: 

HSS is looking to build on the excellent content strategies advanced through our 

existing and prior strategic partnerships. 

  

The first iteration of our Drupal website was developed concurrently with the 

drafting, approval and implementation of the SFHSS 2020-2022 Strategic Plan 

(available at https://sfhss.org/sfhss-strategic-plan-2020-

2022, https://sfhss.org/resource/sfhss-2020-2022-strategic-plan) and with our 

partners at Kanopi Studios. Please see the reference to the content strategy 

successes HSS experienced with Kanopi Studios as described in the article “Five 

Ways to Improve Your Healthcare Content Strategy”, available 

at https://kanopi.com/blog/five-ways-to-improve-your-healthcare-content-

strategy/). 

https://sfhss.org/contact-us
https://myemma.com/
https://sfhss.org/RFPs
https://sfhss.org/sfhss-strategic-plan-2020-2022
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https://kanopi.com/blog/five-ways-to-improve-your-healthcare-content-strategy/


 

ADDENDUM NO. 2 

RFP for Drupal Development, Support and Maintenance for the San Francisco 

Health Service System 

 

Page 5 of 8  |  HSS RFPQ#HSS2022.E2 Drupal Development, Support & Maintenance RFP – Addendum 2   |   June 17, 2022 

  

HSS seeks to continue those efforts in accordance with a new 2023-2025 

Strategic Plan, which is scheduled to be introduced to the San Francisco Health 

Service Board by HSS in during the month of August 2022, for final review and 

approval within the month of September 2022. 

  

Please also see our response to Question 2, above, describing our goal of 

continuing to provide valuable, relevant and easy to locate content to our 

Members that aligns with their existing searches on the site or questions 

submitted to our Member Services call center. 

  

Finally, please see our response to Questions 1 and 3, above, and the critical 

deliverables in the scope of work, including, Meeting the City’s Digital Accessibility 

and Inclusion Standard (RFP Section 8, “Scope of Work”, subsection A.x.), 

developing “Authenticated User Access to User-specific Statements and 

Documents via Single Sign-On (SSO)” (A.i.), and “End-user Secure Document 

Submission through Website and Secure Email” (A.ii.). 

 

 

5. What is the intent for how data collected by the Crowdsourcing tool be used 

by SFHSS? 

 

HSS Response: 

HSS will look to the selected vendor partner as a result of this RFP to bring their 

subject-matter expertise and experience to address the best strategies for 

developing and administering a Member-community-based method for improving 

Member understanding and utilization of the plans and benefits in which they are 

enrolled (A.vii.a.). 

  

The tool may serve as a more ‘real-time’ source of Member feedback and 

experiential data, compared to our current surveys (mail, email, or in-person). The 

tool may additionally provide input for those Members who are unable to attend or 

call into our in-person events, including the public meetings of the Health Service 

Board, which are held during normal business hours when many of Members who 

are active City employees may be working. The tool may also serve as a process 

of mass Member-community engagement, obtaining real-time, constructive and/or 
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creative input from Members on how to improve anything from benefits 

administration and enrollment, to factors that impact patient experience and health 

outcomes. 

  

Regardless of which goals are accomplished by the Crowdsourcing tool, all data 

collection and storage methods will require review and approval by HSS and our 

Privacy Officer to ensure HIPAA compliance. 

 

 

6. Would the crowdsourcing tool take the form of a user feedback form?  

 

HSS Response: 

HSS is looking for a solution that is more streamlined and user-friendly than a 

standard user feedback form. However, HSS is open to proposals that can 

evidence the effectiveness of a tool that mirrors a traditional user feedback form 

or leverages a user feedback form in addition to other Member-community-based 

engagement methods. 

 

 

7. Where should feedback data collected from the Crowdsourcing tool be 

stored? 

 

HSS Response: 

HSS has not specified a particular storage method or location at this time. 

However, as stated in Question 5, above, all data collection and storage methods 

will require review and approval by HSS and our Privacy Officer to ensure HIPAA 

compliance. 

 

 

8. Is content on the website already tagged with the membership group 

options described in A v. regarding "Two-Field Site Search Capability 

Improvement"? 

 

HSS Response: 

Taxonomy does need to be built out on the Website, and HSS will look to the 

vendor partner selected as a result of this RFP to advise HSS and guide this 
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process. Currently SFHSS categorizes documents, but will look to the selected 

vendor partner to advise as to tasks and level of effort prior to “tagging” 

documents so that HSS could identify how that is to be resourced internally. 

 

 

9. What are your existing user roles/permissions model? Are roles already 

synchronized against this platform? 

 

HSS Response: 

HSS has an administrator role, content deleter, and content editor. See 

Attachment A to reference a chart of roles and permissions for the Website. 

 

 

10. Should our accessibility assessment include a page-by-page content 

accessibility audit and audit of all PDF content? If so, how many pages of 

content and PDFs does the website contain? 

 

HSS Response: 

No. There is no need to review each PDF on the website. A priority for HSS is to 

convert the roughly 6,200 public files into accessible content if possible. 

Alternatively, the solution could also be providing tools that allow users to view a 

document with enhanced accessibility tools to meet the accessibility guidelines in 

the Digital Accessibility and Inclusion Standard (November 18, 2021): 

https://sf.gov/reports/november-2021/digital-accessibility-and-inclusion-

standard#standard-details-accessibility-requirements  

 

The www.sfhss.org website stores both displayed PDFs and unpublished PDFs. 

The website also has a library of PDF materials that are historical that people can 

search for here: 

▪ Plan Document Library: https:// sfhss.org/plan-documents  

▪ Board Documents: https://sfhss.org/board-documents  
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11. What is your expectation for new document types in the absence of 

developer intervention? 

 

HSS Response:  

HSS members will need to be able to download and view any and all materials 

and documents. If a proposed solution involves a new document type, members 

must still be able to download a PDF version of the file for their records. 

 

 

12. For Single Sign-On (SSO): 

a. Are users currently able to log in to Oracle? 

b. Would you need syncing to be via Oracle to Drupal? 

c. If someone has an account with Oracle, and that account is associated 

with a group, would the groups need to be synced and recognized by 

both platforms? 

d. How Member users accounts created and vetted?  

 

HSS Response: 

a. Yes. Users can log in to the Oracle Identity And Access Management (IAM) 

system. 

b. Yes. The sync would be from the Oracle system to Drupal. 

c. No. Group syncing will not be required. 

d. By being an employee or retiree of the City, Member users have an Oracle 

IAM account. 
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